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Editorial
Lisa Dolan - Project Archivist

The release of the Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee ahead of the 100th anniversary of the Civil 
War presents researchers and historians with fortuitous time and space to fully study the background 
to the cause célèbre that was the Army Mutiny 1924. The papers also provide opportunities for 
researchers to assess the ‘performance’ of the witnesses that participated, “in camera” before the 
Army Inquiry Committee in April and May 1924, and the conduct of the Army Inquiry Committee itself. 
This guide has been created to introduce users to the papers and to provide detail on the genesis 
and work of the Army Inquiry Committee. The Military Archives, by way of a beneficial and helpful 
professional relationship with the National Archives of Ireland and the Department of An Taoiseach, 
took possession of the papers a number of years ago. Since 2008, cataloguing and digitisation priorities 
in the Military Archives were focused on collections that spanned the revolutionary years (1913 – 
1921). The development of our website and the expansion of our services meant the boxes labelled 
‘Army Mutiny’ were left untouched for many years. In charting the evolvement of the Military Archives 
and the progression of our aims, 2016 represented a very good year. The Military Archives moved from 
modified Victorian accommodation to a purpose-built, state-of-the-art facility, which was built as part 
of the Government’s programme to commemorate 1916. In view of this seismic move, the staff had 
a chance to flag the most important records to transfer first and plan out storage areas so that we 
would be in a position to open our doors to the public from May 2016 and facilitate research during 
that key year. The ‘Mutiny’ boxes were transferred at an early stage and stored with key reading room 
collections. This gives some impression as to what our intention was for these papers once the dust 
had literally settled and we had concluded a number of other projects. 
	 The opportunity to physically ‘lift the lid’ came in 2018 when I asked one of our archive 
volunteers, Lieutenant Colonel Richard Cummins (Retd.) to have a first look, and to box-list and 
arrange the contents. A shared first impression was that the records were in pristine condition and 
that the passage of time and the movement of the records from one place to another had not created 
any issues. The records were firstly arranged by type and then chronologically (i.e. all the recorded 
evidence is contained in one series and runs chronologically), and key data was entered into a database. 
This work made the task of cataloguing a lot easier and speedier. I was the lucky Archivist who had 
the opportunity to read the material and expand the catalogue. As a newcomer to the subject, I was 
particularly struck by the dramatic setting of the Committee’s sessions held in the Council Chamber, 
Government Buildings, and the rapid manner in which the Committee members set up and carried out 
the inquiry. At times I couldn’t wait to turn the page such was the drama set by a preceding question 
or argument. I completed the catalogue knowing a lot more about the history of the early National 
Army and the key figures involved in its development and administration during the Civil War. The 
uncomplicated and fact-laden way the history is presented through the witnesses testimonies and the 
documentation gathered by the Army Inquiry Committee fostered that learning. 
	 The papers are arranged in a way that future researchers can easily identify and target what 
they want to study. If researchers want to find out about the presence and influence of the Irish 
Republican Brotherhood in the National Army and in Government circles, there are key records such 
as the testimony of Sean O Muirthile, Professor James Hogan and Michael Costello that will expand on 
that largely undocumented and secret organisation. If researchers wish to look at the area of military 
discipline during the Civil War, the testimony of the Judge Advocate General is a must-read. What is 
lacking, however, is detailed information about the Army Mutiny itself and the Officers aligned with 
that event including Liam Tobin, Charlie Dalton and Tom Cullen. I contacted a long-time friend of the 
Military Archives, Colonel Tom Hodson (Retd.) to see if he would have an interest in taking a look at 
the collection and helping me figure out a way we could offer background information and context 
to help future users. We quickly decided that a contextualisation essay would be helpful. Colonel 
Hodson (Retd.) very generously gave his time and expertise and produced an outstanding piece of 
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writing which is contained in this guide. I also had the good fortune of making the acquaintance of Mr. 
Rowan Gillespie during the final stages of this project. Mr. Gillespie very kindly sourced and loaned two 
images of his Grandfather, James Creed Meredith, K.C., Chairman of the Army Inquiry Committee and 
chief author of the final Committee report; it was a personal highlight for me to put a face to the name 
of this central figure. 
	 In conclusion, the Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee shed light on a mysterious and 
dramatic chapter in the history of the Defence Forces. It should be noted that some paperwork 
concerning Richard Mulcahy and his interaction with the Army Inquiry Committee can be found in 
the Mulcahy Papers in University College Dublin. However, the Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee 
include additional witness testimonies, correspondence between Committee members and witnesses, 
furnished questionnaires and support documents thus presenting scope for a thorough reappraisal of 
the Army Mutiny and its origins. Crucially, the papers contain a copy of the Chairman’s reservation1 
to the final report which was not made public as it made explicit reference to the evidence gathered. 
The extended report was submitted solely to the Cabinet for their perusal, and a copy retained in the 
Army Inquiry Committee papers. It was a great pleasure for me to be involved in lifting the lid on this 
momentous chapter in Ireland’s military and parliamentary history and I personally look forward to 
witnessing the interest of the public in these papers for years to come. 
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“It was too soon to consider the matter and fully weigh 
possible consequences” 
(General Richard Mulcahy)

The 1924 Army Mutiny and 
Army Inquiry Committee in context
By Colonel Tom Hodson (Retd.)

Introduction

The request to me, from Archivists Commandant Daniel Ayiotis and Mrs Lisa Dolan, to write a 
contextual essay for the Guide to the Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee, was as surprising as it 
was welcome. It has provided me, as a former Army officer, with the opportunity to engage with an 
event which was far from my consciousness when I received my commission in 1964, forty years after 
the events recalled in these archives. Mutiny was far from a young Second Lieutenant’s mind but even 
then certain commitments from the commissioning oath carried particular seriousness. Probably the 
most pertinent in the present context was ‘I will not join or be a member of or subscribe to any political 
party or any secret society whatsoever.’ I had no awareness that the reference to secret societies had 
its origins in an event which only gradually seeped into our consciousness as young officers. Over time, 
when the Army mutiny was discussed it was usually in terms of it being the continuing reason why 
strict departmental control was maintained over the administration of the Defence Forces, a reason 
which we of course felt to be at best anachronistic.
	 Mutiny is an ugly word and an ugly act. An Army’s effectiveness and value to its democratic 
civilian government depends entirely on the proper functioning of its command structures and authority, 
which ensure that soldiers obey the lawful orders of their superior officers. Attempts were made to 
mitigate the 1924 mutiny, by the mutineers naturally, but also by significant political figures of the 
day. This may have been unwise at the time, as Army intelligence reports indicated that the mutineers 
had serious intentions, however much they were belied by the eventual picaresque dénouement in 
Devlin’s Public house on Dublin’s Parnell Street. Part of the mitigation was the establishment of the 
Army Inquiry Committee by the President of the Executive Council, W.T. Cosgrave. The Committee was 
well aware of the seriousness of their task, but their reticence to explicitly use the word mutiny in the 
title of their Committee reflects their reluctance to further dramatise the event.
	 These events have been written about in the past, most notably by Maryann Gialanella 
Valiulis in her books Almost a Rebellion: the Irish Army mutiny of 1924 (Cork, 1985) and Portrait of 
a Revolutionary: General Richard Mulcahy (Dublin, 1992). Her books, largely based on the Mulcahy 
Papers in the UCD Archives, provide the most analytical and detailed accounts of both the Mutiny 
and the Army Inquiry Committee. Now, for the first time, the Military Archives are making publically 
available the complete papers containing not only the Committee’s deliberations but also all witness 
statements and ancillary documentation gathered by the Committee.

The National Army in 1924

The mutiny occurred at a difficult time for both state and Army. The Executive Council headed by 
W.T. Cosgrave was attempting to establish the functions and remit of a democratic state in a country 
inhabited by a population wearied by more than five years of hostilities and conflict. The post-Civil War 
National Army was attempting to re-configure itself as an organisation modelled on modern European 
armies. Complicating matters was a mutually developing antipathy between the military establishment 
and politicians and officials. This antipathy or, to use a word which occurs not infrequently in this 
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collection, animus was manifested most publically in a political and personal dislike on the part of the 
Minister of Home Affairs Mr. Kevin O’Higgins for the Minister of Defence General Richard Mulcahy, 
lately also Commander in Chief of the Army. 

	 Civil society was seeking a ‘peace dividend’ while a number of the ‘fighting men’ in the 
National Army felt that their sacrifices were inadequately recognised and resented the fact that they 
were now facing rapid and severe demobilisation. In addition, as Professor James Hogan of University 
College Cork, a former Major General and Director of Intelligence suggested to the Committee that 
“there is no use in assuming that officers in the Army are as clear-minded in the matter of the Minister 
of Defence’s constitutional position as well-educated civilians”.1 This contention was backed up by the 
opinion of Colonel Charles Russell Commander of the Railway Protection Repair and Maintenance 
Corps who gave a startling view in his evidence to the Committee that 

	� “The GOCs were most powerful men. They lived in castles all over the country, each 
with his little Army, and when they came to Dublin to attend meetings, they brought 
with them in their minds their armies, and backed up their arguments with the power 
of their positions”.2

1	  �AMTY-03-054, ‘Schedule “D”. Documents submitted by Professor James Hogan, late Director of Intelligence’ 
2	  �AMTY-03-036, ‘Verbatim report of evidence of Witness, Colonel Charles Russell’, 10 May 1924, Part A6 

General Richard Mulcahy, 
Commander in Chief (taking 
salute), Major General Charles 
Russell (Officer Commanding 
Railway Protection Repair 
and Maintenance Corps) and 
General Sean MacMahon 
(Chief of Staff) at a ceremony at 
Wellington Barracks, June 1923.
(IE-MA-GPN-052-052, An tOglach 
Glass plate negatives)
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At the scene of a major seaborne landing “One year after”, Fenit, Tralee, Co. Kerry, September 1923.  (Left to right) Colonel 
Bishop, Captain Kelly, Colonel Dunne, Senator O’Sullivan, Major General P. O’Daly (General Officer Commanding Kerry 
Command), Colonel Neligan (Director of Intelligence), General Sean MacMahon (Chief of Staff), Major General Sean Quinn, 
Major General P. MacMahon (General Officer Commanding Curragh Command), Colonel Padraic O’Connor and Colonel J. 
Maginnis. 
(IE-MA-GPN-052-033, An tOglach Glass plate negatives)

	 The National Army, or the Regular Forces, had been hastily assembled in 1922 after the I.R.A. 
split over the Treaty. Hastily assembled as it was, it lacked in training, administration and cohesion. 
Now, some six months after the end of the campaign against the Irregulars, the Army was showing 
increasing signs of strain. The Chief of Staff General Sean MacMahon had become concerned that 
inspections carried out by the Command staffs were inadequate and had appointed Colonel Jephson 
O’Connell as GSO (2)3 in charge of the Inspection Branch of the Chief of Staff’s Department, an 
appointment which O’Connell held from June 1923 to February 1924. 

3	  General Staff Officer 
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O’Connell was a former Roman Catholic Chaplain in the British Army and former Officer Commanding 
the 59th Infantry Battalion in the Southern Command of the National Army. Undoubtedly a zealot, who 
later betrayed the Chief of Staff by complaining directly to the Minister for Home Affairs, the inspection 
reports by his team of inspectors (consolidated into a 225 page report) are exhaustive and detailed4. All 
Commands and battalions were inspected, some of them three or four times over, during the period 
he held office. The inspections covered administration, logistics, training and morale. The reports were 
anything but complimentary and caused difficulties between Colonel O’Connell, his inspecting officers 
and some General Officers Commanding; a case, no doubt, of blaming the messengers. The negative 
tone of the reports is best signified in an opinion expressed by the Commandant 8 Infantry Battalion 
(Cahirciveen) to a visiting Inspector:
	
	� “The best men in the battalion are leaving the Army, and the morale of the men who 

are remaining is poor. No training is carried on. The Battalion on the whole is slovenly. 
This is no doubt due to the conditions under which the men were living during the 
past six months. A big majority of the men and officers are locals, and a bad spirit 
exists, which can only be remedied by moving the battalion to another Command, 
and devoting the utmost attention to training”.5

These views on conditions in the National Army were not those of the Inspection Branch alone, they 
were also shared by onlookers in society. O’Connell includes in his report a lengthy letter from a 
Monsignor E.A. D’Alton in Ballinrobe which was addressed to the Minister of Finance Ernest Blythe, 
and transmitted onward to the Minister of Defence and thence to O’Connell with instructions that the 
Monsignor was reliable and that his complaints should be investigated. 

Among D’Alton’s lengthy list of criticisms he reported to Blythe that; 

“The rank and file are quite willing to learn, and are sick of the idle life, 
but the officers are unable to teach them, and don’t care to teach even 
if they knew how. There is no training, no marching, not even a walk 
in the country, no inspection, no supervision of accounts. The waste is 
appalling, clothes, food, camp followers; and there are ugly rumours 
of missing stores and even ammunition which I fear are true”.6

O’Connell’s reports, which included assessments of the capabilities of individual officers, were 
submitted to the Chief of Staff. Their content must have added further urgency to the process of 
demobilisation of the Army then being pursued by the Minister of Defence and GHQ. It was a process 
which, in the main, led directly to the mutiny.

The Army Mutiny

4	  �IE-MA-AMTY-03-015, ‘Statements submitted by Colonel J O’Connell to the Army Inquiry Committee’ 26 April 
1924 and 6 May 1924. Chapter IV (Inspections), Claremorris Command.

5	  Ibid. 
6	  Ibid.
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When the Civil War ended the strength of the Army stood at 3,000 officers and 52,000 other ranks. 
It was a strength that was politically, militarily and financially unsustainable and a new organisation 
for an Army of 18,000 was proposed, which would entail the demobilisation of 37,000 members of 
the National Army. At the best of times it would have been a difficult feat to achieve and these were 
not the best of times with prevailing high unemployment and straitened national finances. Within the 
Army there was much tension and dissension particularly among the officer body. The officer body 
was composed of pre-Truce I.R.A. members and officers who were recruited after the outbreak of the 
Civil War, including a significant number of officers who had served in the British Army and whose 
perceived preferment caused great resentment. In these conditions, deciding who would remain 
and who would leave, even if clearly defined military criteria of competence and suitability had been 
available, would be difficult. 
	 Further complicating matters was the existence of a recalcitrant group in the National Army 
of former members of Michael Collins’ Old I.R.A. intelligence and counterintelligence unit, a cohort 
that were loyal effectively to the now dead Collins. This group, led by Major General Liam Tobin, Major 
General Tom Cullen and Colonel Charlie Dalton particularly resented what they saw as their side-
lining from positions of authority and influence in the newly emerging Army organisation, which they 
believed was being influenced by a re-organised Irish Republican Brotherhood. They had been causing 
trouble ever since the death of Collins and this was initially revealed in a pay grievance highlighted by 
Oriel House (C.I.D) staff in March 1922. Ironically Tobin reacted to this isolated incident by qualifying 
the actions of the aggrieved C.I.D Officers as ‘bordering on Mutiny.’7

Members of Michael Collins’ “Squad” during the War of Independence. (Left to right) Mick McDonnell, Liam Tobin, Vinny 
Byrne, Paddy O ’Daly and James/Jim Slattery. All received commissions in the National Army. 
(IE-MA-PRCN-04-02-75, Private collection of Vinny Byrne)

7	  �AMTY-03-010, Copy letter from Tobin to Colonel Commandant Thornton, 14 March 1922 affixed to ‘Report from 
Colonel Costello, Director of Intelligence to the Army Inquiry Committee’, 22 April 1924 (file no. 3)
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Extract from Intelligence pay accounts 
(17 February to 8 September 1922) 
showing pay in respect of Intelligence 
staff employed at Headquarters 
(Director’s office), command, division 
and brigade level.  Above image shows 
pay in respect of staff employed week 
ending 25th August 1922, the same week 
General Michael Collins was shot.
  (IE-MA-PRCN-0072-02, Private collection 
of Commandant Desmond Mortell)
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Eventually the group formed an organisation termed the Old I.R.A. organisation and proceeded to 
stir up unrest and resistance amongst the officer body to the continuing demobilisation programme. 
This resistance manifested itself particularly in the Curragh where officers who had been considered 
unsuitable had been sent to complete a course of instruction which may or may not have rendered 
them fit for retention. It is notable that the resistance to demobilisation was confined to the officer 
corps. Demobilisation of the other ranks proceeded according to plan, leading the Adjutant General 
to remark later that “It is of more than passing interest to note the comparative demeanour, decency 
and discipline of these men as contrasted with many of the officers”8	
	 The unfolding of the eventual mutiny and its almost byzantine politico-military complexities 
has been well documented elsewhere and a full account could not be accommodated in this short 
essay. Richard Mulcahy was insistent that the military authorities should be allowed push through 
their demobilisation plans. Some politicians, principally the Minister of Industry and Commerce 
Joe McGrath, himself a former Major General, Director of Intelligence and member of the Collins 
intelligence group, assisted the Tobin group in pushing their eventual mutinous demands on the 
government and the Army. 

Summary of meeting held on 23 July 
1923 when a deputation elected by 
a representative body of the I.R.A. 
organisation met General Richard 
Mulcahy Commander in Chief and 
principal matters were agreed. 
(IE-MA-AMTY-02-002, Papers of the Army 
Inquiry Committee) 

8	  �AMTY-03-030, ‘Statement submitted by Lieutenant General Gearóid O’Suilleavain to the Army Inquiry Commit-
tee’, 6 May 1924, p.3
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Joseph McGrath, Minister for Industry and Commerce 1922, 1923 and 1924 (resigned from the Ministry in March 1924).
(IE-MA-BMH-P-022-16, Bureau of Military History Photographs)
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As a member of the Executive Council, Mulcahy found himself constrained by W.T. Cosgrave who was 
concerned with the upcoming General Election, which prompted him to enter into discussions with 
the eventual mutineers, a miscalculation which led them to believe that their demands would be 
acceded to. When, after the election, it became apparent that their demands were not acceptable, 
Tobin and Dalton presented an ultimatum to the government demanding the removal of the Army 
Council, the immediate suspension of demobilisation, the establishment of an inquiry and a say in the 
reorganisation of the Army.

Copy letter from Major General Liam Tobin and Colonel C.F. 
Dalton to President W.T. Cosgrave, 6th March 1924. It was 
supplied by President W.T. Cosgrave to the Committee of Inquiry 
on 7th April 1924. 
(IE-MA-AMTY-03-072, Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee) 

Major General 
Liam Tobin in 
National Army 
uniform.
( I E - M A - A L -
SB-06 p. 29, 
Brother Allen 
collection)

Initially the Executive Council held firm against the mutineers and Tobin and Dalton went on the 
run. Before long, however, pressure from McGrath and from O’Higgins fed with a yearlong litany of 
complaints by Colonel Jephson O’Connell regarding the resurgence of I.R.B. influence in the Army, led 
to a change in political attitudes. 
	 Cosgrave fell ill, Mulcahy became isolated and compromises were made with the by now 
fifty strong group of officer mutineers and orders were given that they were not to be arrested. To 
secure more control, the Executive Council appointed General Eoin O’Duffy, Head of the Civic Guard as 
Inspector General and General Officer Commanding the Defence Forces. While O’Duffy was negotiating 
his exact powers with the Executive Council, Mulcahy authorised the seizure of a number of mutineers 
who had gathered in a public house in Dublin.
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From file containing details of arms and ammunition 
returned to army stores under the terms of O ’Duffy’s 
order dated 20th March 1924. The returns featured were 
organised by Mr Joe McGrath, T.D. and Mr. Michael 
O’Connell, County Councillor (Tipperary)
(IE-MA-MS-388-03, Military Secretary files)

This was interpreted by the Executive Council as a breach of their instructions and they promptly 
called for the resignation of the Army Council. The Adjutant General and the Quartermaster General 
resigned but the Chief of Staff, who had been in Cork to stabilise the position there at the time of 
the raid, demurred but had his commission withdrawn. Mulcahy resigned at the sackings of these 
senior officers who were carrying out their duty to protect the democratic institutions of the State. The 
mutineers were effectively exonerated, were not court-martialled and were allowed resign from the 
Army. They also saw one of their demands acceded to when the President of the Executive Council W. 
T. Cosgrave constituted the Army Inquiry Committee on 3 April 1924.

Major General Tom Cullen in National Army uniform.
(IE-MA-BMH-CD-188_02, Frank Thornton collection, Bureau of Military History 
Contemporary Documents) 
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Kevin O’Higgins, Minister for Justice, 1922 to 1927.
(IE-MA-GPN-044-004, An tOglach, Glass plate negatives)
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The Army Inquiry Committee

The Committee’s terms of reference were: 

To enquire into the facts and matters which have caused or led up to the indiscipline and mutinous or 
insubordinate conduct lately manifested in the Army.9

This careful formulation ensured that as far as possible the events of the mutiny and the actions 
of the mutineers would not be too closely scrutinised. The terms were later expanded on by the 
President to determine ‘whether the discontent among certain officers and men shown in the recent 
threat of mutiny and insubordination is justly and fairly attributed to “muddling, mismanagement and 
incompetence in the administration of the Army.”’11 So, before the inquiry began its deliberations, 
the mutiny had been mitigated to a ‘threat of mutiny’ and the military authorities were to be judged 
on their ‘muddling, mismanagement and incompetence’, the charge made against them in the Dáil by 
Joe McGrath.

	
It was a charge which Mr McGrath was not prepared to press as he, 
along with participants in the mutiny, declined to give evidence to the 
Committee. Former members of the Army Council also declined to give 
evidence, until what they considered as unjust charges against them 
were refuted by legal counsel. Legal argumentation eventually resulted 
in counsel being accepted for the members of the Army Council with 
the Committee deciding that witnesses would be given a choice as to 
whether or not they would agree to be cross-examined by counsel. 
Focusing on the legal preliminaries alone, a request submitted by the 
Committee Chairman for access to a legal opinion expressed by the 
Attorney General for Cabinet (concerning the infamous Kenmare case) 
resulted in a key decision taken by an Irish Government to preserve the 
confidentiality of the opinion, and not openly publish it. 10

	 The first witness to appear before the Committee was Mr C.B. O’Connor the Secretary of the 
Ministry of Defence, a former decorated World War I veteran. Present-day readers will be surprised 
to read that Mr. O’Connor informed the Committee that his “knowledge of these matters on which 
you want information was almost nil.”11 He further suggested that the matters had been dealt with 
by the Army Council and the papers concerning the events were in “what is at present known as 
General Headquarters which is outside the area that I, practically speaking, can put my foot in.”12 
Kevin O’Higgins showed no reluctance in continuing his attack on the Army and on General Mulcahy. 
He was “not satisfied that there permeated the Army, and particularly its officer personnel, a proper 
and reasonable sense of stewardship to the people” and he asserted “that the ex-Minister for Defence 
throughout the year previous to his resignation did not stand for stern impersonal discipline in the 
Army.”13 

9	  IE-MA-04-002, ‘Report of the Army Inquiry Committee’, (Dublin, 1924)
10	  �AMTY-02-001, Copy letter from President William T. Cosgrave to Creed Meredith, 28 April 1924, in file titled Army 

Inquiry Committee 
11	  �AMTY-03-002, ‘Verbatim Report of Evidence of Mr C.B. O’Connor, Secretary, Department of Defence, 9 April 

1924’
12	  Ibid.
13	  �AMTY-03-009, ‘Verbatim Report of Evidence of Mr C.B. O’Connor, Secretary, Department of Defence and Mr. 

Kevin O’Higgins, Minister for Home Affairs, 22 April 1924’
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The feelings of the Army Council were clearly expressed by the Chief of Staff General MacMahon when 
he somewhat plaintively stated that,

	� “Sitting here at this Inquiry listening to statement after statement being read, and 
witnesses being cross-examined, I cannot help feeling a sting of degradation when I 
reflect on the work of the years that have passed and sit here accused of having done 
something – although that something is not quite clear to anybody – to disrupt the 
Army and pull down the edifice we have spent so many years and so much energy in 
building up”.14

	 Much, much more of interest is to be found in the files of the collection, shedding light not just 
on the events of the mutiny but on the experiences of many participants in events before and leading 
up to the mutiny.

14	  AMTY-03-027, ‘Statement submitted by General Sean MacMahon to the Army Inquiry Committee’
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General Sean MacMahon, former Chief of Staff and member of the Army Council.
(IE-MA-GPN-035-023, An tOglach Glass plate negatives)
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The Committee delivered its report in, by present day inquiry standards, the remarkably short period 
of two months. Confusingly, it was presented as a unanimous report albeit that the Chairman James 
Creed Meredith felt it necessary to make his ‘concurrence subject to a reservation as to completeness’.15 

	 It found that the mutiny had been 
caused by a group formerly loyal to General 
Collins who resented their treatment during 
the difficult demobilisation process. It 
criticised the Army Council for allowing the 
reorganisation of the I.R.B. but found no 
evidence – befitting of a secret society – that 
membership or not of the I.R.B. had any 
influence on Army appointments. While it 
exonerated the Army Council of ‘muddling, 
mismanagement and incompetence in the 
administration of the Army’ the chairman’s 
lengthy addenda contained specific 
criticism of General Mulcahy. The chairman 
felt that events were conditioned by the 
‘failure of the Minister of Defence to deal 
with the problem of the old I.R.A. officers 
in a direct and straightforward manner.’ 
Furthermore, on the charge of muddling and 
mismanagement, ‘he is not included in the 
exculpation specifically given to the ex-Chief 
of Staff.’16 
	

	 These conclusions aided the Executive Council in closing the affair, evidenced by the almost 
complete lack of interest in the submission of the report to the Dáil and in General Mulcahy’s 
unsuccessful attempt to censure the government on the findings of the Committee. The sacking 
of the top military echelons - General MacMahon was eventually re-instated as a GOC– and their 
replacement went smoothly, and contributed greatly to the equally smooth transfer of obedience of 
the Army to the incoming 1932 Fianna Fáil Government. Major General Liam Tobin’s allegiance crossed 
over to the other side of the Civil War divide, and he was appointed by de Valera as superintendent of 
the Oireachtas in 1940.

15	  IE-MA-04-002, ‘Report of the Army Inquiry Committee’, (Dublin, 1924)
16	  AMTY-04-03, ‘Army Inquiry Committee Chairman’s Reservation to Committee’s Report 10 June 1924’
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Lieutenant General Peadar MacMahon, Chief of Staff; General Eoin O ‘Duffy, General Officer Commanding the Forces 
and President W.T. Cosgrave at the graveside of Wolfe Tone, Bodenstown, 22nd June 1924.
(IE-MA-GPN-046-020, An tOglach Glass plate negatives)
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Conclusion

When I was a child, my late mother Mary Hodson, who lived to be 103, would tell me of how she worked 
as what we would now call an au pair for a family with young children. The family lived on Infirmary 
Road in Dublin close to GHQ. She enjoyed the work and got on very well with the family whom she 
continued to visit occasionally over the years. Her employment was abruptly ended however after she 
told my grandfather that she had seen the father of the family and other men burying ‘something’ in 
the back garden. My grandfather decided that ‘she was not brought up for that sort of carry-on’ and 
decided that she must leave. It was not until later when I applied to join the Cadet School that she 
told me that the Mr. Tobin she had worked for had been a General in the Army. I doubt that she ever 
appreciated the significance of the reference to secret societies in my commissioning oath that day in 
the Curragh on 11 October 1964.
	 It is probably unfortunate also that General Mulcahy did not fully appreciate that same 
significance when in his evidence, he reflected on the subject; 

	� “Last year in the Dáil I refused an amendment, or a suggestion to put in a Clause, 
or some form of Oath that would forbid membership of Secret or Political Societies 
to Army officers and men. It was too soon to consider the matter and fully weigh 
possible consequences.17 

Perhaps if he had not delayed there would have been no Army Mutiny and no Army Inquiry Committee, 
but then we would not have had access to this outstanding window into our history.           

President W.T. Cosgrave, General Richard Mulcahy, General Sean MacMahon (Chief of Staff) and Lieutenant General 
Gearóid O’Suilleavain (Adjutant General) at Wolfe Tone’s grave, Bodenstown, 24 June 1923.
(IE-MA-GPN-060-007: IE-MA-GPN-060-008, An tOglach Glass plate negatives)

        

17	  AMTY-03-021 
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Liam Tobin at the unveiling of a memorial at Tom Cullen’s grave, Rathnew, Co. Wicklow, 19 June 1927.
(IE-MA-PRCN-04-02-15, Private collection of Vinny Byrne)



25

Captain M. Dunne, Captain Thomas Flood and Captain Vinny Byrne on the steps of Government buildings.
(IE-MA-PRCN-04-02-67, Private collection of Vinny Byrne)
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p
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N
ational A

rm
y R

esignations (O
fficers) 9 M

arch –
 29 A

pril 1924

N
am

e appears on list w
ith a rem

ark that resignation w
as “due to crisis” (see list “B

”, IE
-M

A
-A

M
TY-02-003) 18

Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

M
acM

ahon 
Seán 

General 
as from

 20 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’M

uirthuille
Seán

Lt. General
as from

 20 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Suilleavain

Seán
Lt. General

as from
 20 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
19Cullen 

Thom
as 

M
aj. Gen 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ennis
Thom

as 
M

aj. Gen
9 M

arch 1924 (see M
SPC 

24SP7328)
i/c Inspection, General 
Headquarters

U
nplaced

M
cSw

eeney
W

illiam
 

M
aj. Gen.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

’Daly
Patrick 

M
aj. Gen  

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
General O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding, 

Kerry
U

nplaced

Tobin 
Liam

 
M

aj. Gen.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Bernard 

Colonel 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

V/General O
ffi

cer 
Com

m
anding, Cork 

Com
m

anding O
ffi

cer,  3 
Brigade

Dalton 
Charles Francis 

Colonel 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Leonard
Joseph 

Colonel 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Staff, Kerry
7 Brigade

M
cCrea

Patrick 
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)

O
’M

alley
Christopher 

Colonel 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ryan 
Jerem

iah 
Colonel 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
V/General O

ffi
cer 

Com
m

anding, W
aterford

5 Brigade

Slattery
Jam

es 
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Thornton 

Frank
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Brannock

M
ichael

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding 52 Bn, 

Clarem
orris

Reserve

Breslin 
Edm

und 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Broderick 
Seán

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Byrne

Charles
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Vincent

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding 1 Bn, 

Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

Com
pton

Henry 
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Clarem
orris Com

m
and 

Reserve

Conroy 
Jam

es P. 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Coughlan
Francis X.

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Departm

ent of General Staff
Intelligence 

Curley
John K. 

Com
dt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Dolan 
Joseph 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Donnelly

Thom
as 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)

18	
 List prepared by Staff Duties departm

ent, 12 April 1924
19	

 Cullen claim
ed he resigned on 25

th M
arch 1924 in a letter published in the Freem

an’s Journal, 3 April 1924.  
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am
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A
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M
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

M
acM

ahon 
Seán 

General 
as from

 20 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’M

uirthuille
Seán

Lt. General
as from

 20 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Suilleavain

Seán
Lt. General

as from
 20 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
19Cullen 

Thom
as 

M
aj. Gen 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ennis
Thom

as 
M

aj. Gen
9 M

arch 1924 (see M
SPC 

24SP7328)
i/c Inspection, General 
Headquarters

U
nplaced

M
cSw

eeney
W

illiam
 

M
aj. Gen.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

’Daly
Patrick 

M
aj. Gen  

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
General O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding, 

Kerry
U

nplaced

Tobin 
Liam

 
M

aj. Gen.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Bernard 

Colonel 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

V/General O
ffi

cer 
Com

m
anding, Cork 

Com
m

anding O
ffi

cer,  3 
Brigade

Dalton 
Charles Francis 

Colonel 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Leonard
Joseph 

Colonel 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Staff, Kerry
7 Brigade

M
cCrea

Patrick 
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)

O
’M

alley
Christopher 

Colonel 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ryan 
Jerem

iah 
Colonel 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
V/General O

ffi
cer 

Com
m

anding, W
aterford

5 Brigade

Slattery
Jam

es 
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Thornton 

Frank
Colonel 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Brannock

M
ichael

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding 52 Bn, 

Clarem
orris

Reserve

Breslin 
Edm

und 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Broderick 
Seán

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Byrne

Charles
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Vincent

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding 1 Bn, 

Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

Com
pton

Henry 
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Clarem
orris Com

m
and 

Reserve

Conroy 
Jam

es P. 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Coughlan
Francis X.

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Departm

ent of General Staff
Intelligence 

Curley
John K. 

Com
dt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Dolan 
Joseph 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Donnelly

Thom
as 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)

18	
 List prepared by Staff Duties departm

ent, 12 April 1924
19	

 Cullen claim
ed he resigned on 25

th M
arch 1924 in a letter published in the Freem

an’s Journal, 3 April 1924.  
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Duffy
Luke

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
44 Bn, Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
Adjutant, 4 Brigade

Finnegan
Lee (Laurence)

Com
dt. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

15 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
Reserve

Flood
Thom

as 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Flynn
John Joseph

Com
dt. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Griffi
n 

Patrick 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Griffi
n 

W
illiam

 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
ffi

cer Com
m

anding, 9 Bn, 
Kerry Com

m
and 

Reserve

Heffernan
Liam

 
Com

dt. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
51 Bn, Athlone Com

m
and 

Reserve

Hunt
Jam

es 
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Cam
p Com

dt. Donegal 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Hurley 
Jerom

e 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Lalor
Anthony

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Cam

p Com
dt. W

aterford 
Com

m
and 

Q
.M

, 20 Bn

M
aguire

M
ichael 

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E [Arm

y Corps of 
Engineers]

District Engineer. Eng. 
District (2)

M
cCrea

Jam
es

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding, 50 Bn, 

Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

M
cGrath

Edm
und

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Staff, W

aterford Com
m

and
“C” Coy. 19 Bn 

M
ullooly

Patrick 
Com

dt. 
as from

 7 April 1924  (O
ffi

cers 
records). See also list “B”, IE-
M

A-AM
TY-02-003

Departm
ent of General Staff

Reserve

M
cGrath 

Gabriel 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
urphy 

Stephen Joseph 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

N
eary

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

26 Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

Brigade O
ffi

cer, 2 Brigade

N
olan 

Seam
us

Com
dt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Leary

Edw
ard F.

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Artillery Corps 

Reserve

O
’Connell

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Sullivan 

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

.G [Q
uarterm

aster 
General] Departm

ent 
Reserve

Roche 
Seán

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Surnam

e 
Forenam

e
Rank 

Date of resignation and 

source

Appointm
ent before 

reorganisation 
Appointm

ent after 
reorganisation

Ryan 
Patrick Joseph 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Saurin

Francis
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Departm
ent of General Staff

Intelligence 

Sm
all 

M
ichael 

Com
dt. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Toom
ey

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Governor ‘B’ Tintow
n 

Internm
ent cam

p
Reserve

Ashton 
George

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Boyle 
Patrick Joseph 

Capt. 
as from

 7
th April (Iris O

ifigúil)
“A” Coy, 16 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Breen
Seán

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Brennan
M

ichael Joseph 
Capt. 

as from
 7 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E [Arm

y Corps of 
Engineers] Athlone Com

m
and 

U
nplaced
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
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Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Duffy
Luke

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
44 Bn, Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
Adjutant, 4 Brigade

Finnegan
Lee (Laurence)

Com
dt. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

15 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
Reserve

Flood
Thom

as 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Flynn
John Joseph

Com
dt. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Griffi
n 

Patrick 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Griffi
n 

W
illiam

 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
ffi

cer Com
m

anding, 9 Bn, 
Kerry Com

m
and 

Reserve

Heffernan
Liam

 
Com

dt. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
51 Bn, Athlone Com

m
and 

Reserve

Hunt
Jam

es 
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Cam
p Com

dt. Donegal 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Hurley 
Jerom

e 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Lalor
Anthony

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Cam

p Com
dt. W

aterford 
Com

m
and 

Q
.M

, 20 Bn

M
aguire

M
ichael 

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E [Arm

y Corps of 
Engineers]

District Engineer. Eng. 
District (2)

M
cCrea

Jam
es

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

ffi
cer Com

m
anding, 50 Bn, 

Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

M
cGrath

Edm
und

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Staff, W

aterford Com
m

and
“C” Coy. 19 Bn 

M
ullooly

Patrick 
Com

dt. 
as from

 7 April 1924  (O
ffi

cers 
records). See also list “B”, IE-
M

A-AM
TY-02-003

Departm
ent of General Staff

Reserve

M
cGrath 

Gabriel 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
urphy 

Stephen Joseph 
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

N
eary

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

26 Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

Brigade O
ffi

cer, 2 Brigade

N
olan 

Seam
us

Com
dt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Leary

Edw
ard F.

Com
dt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Artillery Corps 

Reserve

O
’Connell

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Sullivan 

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

.G [Q
uarterm

aster 
General] Departm

ent 
Reserve

Roche 
Seán

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Surnam

e 
Forenam

e
Rank 

Date of resignation and 

source

Appointm
ent before 

reorganisation 
Appointm

ent after 
reorganisation

Ryan 
Patrick Joseph 

Com
dt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Saurin

Francis
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Departm
ent of General Staff

Intelligence 

Sm
all 

M
ichael 

Com
dt. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Toom
ey

Seán
Com

dt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Governor ‘B’ Tintow
n 

Internm
ent cam

p
Reserve

Ashton 
George

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Boyle 
Patrick Joseph 

Capt. 
as from

 7
th April (Iris O

ifigúil)
“A” Coy, 16 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Breen
Seán

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Brennan
M

ichael Joseph 
Capt. 

as from
 7 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E [Arm

y Corps of 
Engineers] Athlone Com

m
and 

U
nplaced
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Breslin 
W

illiam
 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Christopher 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

 [Q
uarterm

aster], 16 Bn, 
Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve

Byrne
Joseph 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c, Infantry Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Caw
ley

Thom
as 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
ffi

cer Com
m

anding “C” Coy, 
46 Bn 

“A” Coy, 24 Bn

Conaty 
Charles

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“C” Coy, 48 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“A” Coy, 24 Bn

Conlon 
Robert 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Crow
ley

John Thom
as 

Capt.
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.O
. Cork Com

m
and 

Inspection O
ffi

cer

Dalton 
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“C” Coy, 48 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“D”’ Coy, 23 Bn

Daly
W

illiam
 D.

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.C.E.[Arm
y Corps of 

Engineers]
B.E.O

 [Battalion 
Engineering O

ffi
cer]

Dom
ican (or 

Dom
igan)

John 
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
2 i/c, 56 Bn, Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve

Doran
M

ichael 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B” Coy, 24 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“C” Coy, 23 Bn

Egan 
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B” Coy, 52 Bn, Clarem
orris 

[Com
m

and]
“c” Coy, 52 Bn, 
Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
Flood 

Peter
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 56 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Foy
John 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Gantly
Joseph F.

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.C.E. [Arm
y Corps of 

Engineers] 
Stores O

ffi
cer, Eng. 

District

Goulding 
John A. 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Grace
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

38 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
“A” Coy, 15 Bn

Grey (Gray)
Jam

es 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B” Coy, 11 Bn 

Reserve

Halpin 
Robert 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ham
ilton 

David J. 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Hogan

M
ichael 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil). See also list “B”, IE-

M
A-AM

TY-02-003

“C” Coy, 36 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
“D” Coy, 19 Bn 

Horgan 
John 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

6 Bn, S.I.C. [Special Infantry 
Corps]

“B” Coy, 26 Bn

Keane 
Seán 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.G’s [Adjutant General’s] 
Departm

ent 
Reserve

Kelly
Joseph 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 8 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Supplies, w

orkshops and 
supply coy. 

Kileen (or 
Killeen)

Andrew
 Bernard 

Capt. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E.

B.E.O
 [Battalion 

Engineering O
ffi

cer]
Kerrigan

Richard 
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Q

.M
. 64 Bn, Dublin Com

m
and 

Q
.M

, 23 Bn 

Kilroy
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
44 Bn, Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
“A” Coy, 4 Bn

Lennon
Seán

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

44 Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

“B” Coy, 4 Bn

Lennon
Thom

as 
Capt. 

see list “B”, IE-M
A-

AM
TY-02-003 as from

 29 
M

arch 1924 (Iris O
ifigúil)

Adjt. 45 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Assistant Adjt. 21 Bn

L’Estrange
M

ichael 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B”Coy, 44 Bn, Clarem

orris 
[Com

m
and]

Assistant Adjt. 6 Bn
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Breslin 
W

illiam
 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne
Christopher 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

 [Q
uarterm

aster], 16 Bn, 
Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve

Byrne
Joseph 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c, Infantry Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Caw
ley

Thom
as 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
ffi

cer Com
m

anding “C” Coy, 
46 Bn 

“A” Coy, 24 Bn

Conaty 
Charles

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“C” Coy, 48 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“A” Coy, 24 Bn

Conlon 
Robert 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Crow
ley

John Thom
as 

Capt.
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.O
. Cork Com

m
and 

Inspection O
ffi

cer

Dalton 
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“C” Coy, 48 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“D”’ Coy, 23 Bn

Daly
W

illiam
 D.

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.C.E.[Arm
y Corps of 

Engineers]
B.E.O

 [Battalion 
Engineering O

ffi
cer]

Dom
ican (or 

Dom
igan)

John 
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
2 i/c, 56 Bn, Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve

Doran
M

ichael 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B” Coy, 24 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“C” Coy, 23 Bn

Egan 
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B” Coy, 52 Bn, Clarem
orris 

[Com
m

and]
“c” Coy, 52 Bn, 
Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
Flood 

Peter
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 56 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

Foy
John 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Gantly
Joseph F.

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.C.E. [Arm
y Corps of 

Engineers] 
Stores O

ffi
cer, Eng. 

District

Goulding 
John A. 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Grace
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

38 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
“A” Coy, 15 Bn

Grey (Gray)
Jam

es 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B” Coy, 11 Bn 

Reserve

Halpin 
Robert 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Ham
ilton 

David J. 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Hogan

M
ichael 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil). See also list “B”, IE-

M
A-AM

TY-02-003

“C” Coy, 36 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
“D” Coy, 19 Bn 

Horgan 
John 

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

6 Bn, S.I.C. [Special Infantry 
Corps]

“B” Coy, 26 Bn

Keane 
Seán 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.G’s [Adjutant General’s] 
Departm

ent 
Reserve

Kelly
Joseph 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 8 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Supplies, w

orkshops and 
supply coy. 

Kileen (or 
Killeen)

Andrew
 Bernard 

Capt. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.C.E.

B.E.O
 [Battalion 

Engineering O
ffi

cer]
Kerrigan

Richard 
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Q

.M
. 64 Bn, Dublin Com

m
and 

Q
.M

, 23 Bn 

Kilroy
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
44 Bn, Clarem

orris [Com
m

and]
“A” Coy, 4 Bn

Lennon
Seán

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

44 Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

“B” Coy, 4 Bn

Lennon
Thom

as 
Capt. 

see list “B”, IE-M
A-

AM
TY-02-003 as from

 29 
M

arch 1924 (Iris O
ifigúil)

Adjt. 45 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Assistant Adjt. 21 Bn

L’Estrange
M

ichael 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“B”Coy, 44 Bn, Clarem

orris 
[Com

m
and]

Assistant Adjt. 6 Bn
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

M
cCorm

ack
John J. 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

 
 

M
cCorm

ack
Joseph 

Capt.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

’s Staff, Athlone Com
m

and 
U

nplaced

M
cGinley

Anthony
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

rdnance O
ffi

cer, Donegal 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

M
olloy

Joseph 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

ooney 
Patrick 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c 16 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

M
urphy 

Jam
es 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Adjt, 21 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 24 Bn

M
urray

M
ichael 

Capt.
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

yles
W

illiam
 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c 64 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
Q

.M
. [Q

uarterm
aster] 18 

Bn
N

olan 
Thom

as 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
[O

] Carroll
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
2 i/c, 24 Infantry Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“D” Coy, 23 Bn

O
’Doherty

Thom
as 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

School of M
usic, Dublin 

Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Donnell

Jam
es H.

Capt.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Adjt. 35 Bn, Donegal Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Donovan

Daniel 
Capt.

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 15 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Dw

yer
Jam

es Kevin
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Q

.M
. 18 Bn, Lim

erick 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

O
’Gorm

an
Patrick 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 36 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
“D”’ Coy, 19 Bn

O
’Sullivan

Patrick 
Capt. 

“since arm
y crisis began” (see 

list “B”, IE-M
A-AM

TY-02-003)
Q

.M
. 2 Bn, S.I.C. [Special 

Infantry Corps]
Reserve

Redm
ond 

Eoin N
.

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 50 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“B” Coy, 22 Bn

Robinson 
Christopher 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Robinson 
Jerem

iah 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Roche

Seán
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
I.O

. Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

Ryan
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“D” Coy, 38 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 15 Bn

Tum
bleton 

Seán
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Departm

ent of General Staff
Intelligence 

W
alpole

Robert Henry
Capt.

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

W
hitt

y
Patrick 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B”Coy, 57 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Assistant Adjt. 22 Bn 

Boles
Patrick 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

I.O
. 22 Bn, Athlone Com

m
and 

Reserve

Brennan
Peter

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne 
Am

brose 
Lieut.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.G’s Departm

ent 
Reserve

Byrne
John 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Intelligence, General 
Headquarters

U
nplaced

Cleary 
John 

Lieut.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
.T.C Curragh 

Reserve

Colleran
Edw

ard 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.G. [M
achine Gun] Coy, 44 

Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

“C” Coy, 6 Bn

Couba
Thom

as J. 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

M
cCorm

ack
John J. 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

 
 

M
cCorm

ack
Joseph 

Capt.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Q
.M

’s Staff, Athlone Com
m

and 
U

nplaced

M
cGinley

Anthony
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

rdnance O
ffi

cer, Donegal 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

M
olloy

Joseph 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

ooney 
Patrick 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c 16 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

M
urphy 

Jam
es 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Adjt, 21 Bn, Dublin Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 24 Bn

M
urray

M
ichael 

Capt.
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

yles
W

illiam
 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

2 i/c 64 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
Q

.M
. [Q

uarterm
aster] 18 

Bn
N

olan 
Thom

as 
Capt.

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
[O

] Carroll
Thom

as 
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
2 i/c, 24 Infantry Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“D” Coy, 23 Bn

O
’Doherty

Thom
as 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

School of M
usic, Dublin 

Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Donnell

Jam
es H.

Capt.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Adjt. 35 Bn, Donegal Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Donovan

Daniel 
Capt.

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 15 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
Reserve

O
’Dw

yer
Jam

es Kevin
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Q

.M
. 18 Bn, Lim

erick 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

O
’Gorm

an
Patrick 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 36 Bn, W
aterford 

Com
m

and 
“D”’ Coy, 19 Bn

O
’Sullivan

Patrick 
Capt. 

“since arm
y crisis began” (see 

list “B”, IE-M
A-AM

TY-02-003)
Q

.M
. 2 Bn, S.I.C. [Special 

Infantry Corps]
Reserve

Redm
ond 

Eoin N
.

Capt.
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 50 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“B” Coy, 22 Bn

Robinson 
Christopher 

Capt. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Robinson 
Jerem

iah 
Capt. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Roche

Seán
Capt.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
I.O

. Dublin Com
m

and 
Reserve

Ryan
John 

Capt. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“D” Coy, 38 Bn, Cork Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 15 Bn

Tum
bleton 

Seán
Capt. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Departm

ent of General Staff
Intelligence 

W
alpole

Robert Henry
Capt.

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

W
hitt

y
Patrick 

Capt.
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B”Coy, 57 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

Assistant Adjt. 22 Bn 

Boles
Patrick 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

I.O
. 22 Bn, Athlone Com

m
and 

Reserve

Brennan
Peter

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Byrne 
Am

brose 
Lieut.

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.G’s Departm

ent 
Reserve

Byrne
John 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Intelligence, General 
Headquarters

U
nplaced

Cleary 
John 

Lieut.
as from

 7 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
.T.C Curragh 

Reserve

Colleran
Edw

ard 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.G. [M
achine Gun] Coy, 44 

Bn, Clarem
orris [Com

m
and]

“C” Coy, 6 Bn

Couba
Thom

as J. 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Coughlan
Cornelius

Lieut. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Creighton 

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
I.O

. [Intelligence O
ffi

cer] 55 Bn, 
Dublin Com

m
and 

unplaced

Cronin
Denis

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

.T.C [O
ffi

cer Training Corps]
Reserve

Doyle 
Jam

es 
Lieut. 

as from
 7 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil) (see a list “B”, IE-M
A-

AM
TY-02-003)

Arbour Hill detention barracks 
U

nplaced

Duggan
Edw

ard 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
.O

. 18 Bn
M

.O
. Brigade Coy, Arm

y 
M

edical Corps 
Gallagher

Edw
ard 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

46 Bn, Donegal Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 2 Bn

Goodw
in

John 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 55 Dublin Com

m
and

Reserve

Hum
e 

John 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Kane

Robert 
Lieut. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Kelly
Daniel 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

P.O
. 46 Bn, Donegal Com

m
and 

Reserve

Keogh 
W

illiam
 

Lieut 
as from

 31 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Kerrigan 
Patrick Joseph 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Lynch

Thom
as P. 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 16 Bn
Reserve

M
cDarby 

Joseph 
Lieut. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
cLoughlin 

Edw
ard Joseph 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B” Coy, 13 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“A” Coy, 23 Bn

M
cLoughlin 

N
eil 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
orris

Jam
es 

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

urray
John Joseph  

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Brien

Alfred
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.P.C

Adjutant, A. Service Corps

O
’Donnell

M
ichael 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.G. Coy, 18 Bn, Lim
erick 

Reserve

O
’Donnell

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Donovan

M
ichael 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 65 Bn, Cork 

“D” Coy, 15 Bn

Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation
O

’N
eill

Conn 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Intelligence, General 
Headquarters

Reserve

Robinson 
M

ichael 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Ryan

Peter
Lieut. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Sargent
Philip

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Sw

eeney
Daniel 

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
W

alsh
M

ichael Joseph 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.M
 Corps [Arm

y M
edical 

Corps]
A.M

 Corps 

W
ylie

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 7 April 1924  (O

ffi
cers 

records) . See also list “B”, IE-
M

A-AM
TY-02-003. 

I.O
, Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Coughlan
Cornelius

Lieut. 
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Creighton 

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
I.O

. [Intelligence O
ffi

cer] 55 Bn, 
Dublin Com

m
and 

unplaced

Cronin
Denis

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
O

.T.C [O
ffi

cer Training Corps]
Reserve

Doyle 
Jam

es 
Lieut. 

as from
 7 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil) (see a list “B”, IE-M
A-

AM
TY-02-003)

Arbour Hill detention barracks 
U

nplaced

Duggan
Edw

ard 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
.O

. 18 Bn
M

.O
. Brigade Coy, Arm

y 
M

edical Corps 
Gallagher

Edw
ard 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

46 Bn, Donegal Com
m

and 
“B” Coy, 2 Bn

Goodw
in

John 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 55 Dublin Com

m
and

Reserve

Hum
e 

John 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Kane

Robert 
Lieut. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Kelly
Daniel 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

P.O
. 46 Bn, Donegal Com

m
and 

Reserve

Keogh 
W

illiam
 

Lieut 
as from

 31 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Kerrigan 
Patrick Joseph 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Lynch

Thom
as P. 

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“A” Coy, 16 Bn
Reserve

M
cDarby 

Joseph 
Lieut. 

as from
 1 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
cLoughlin 

Edw
ard Joseph 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

“B” Coy, 13 Bn, Dublin 
Com

m
and 

“A” Coy, 23 Bn

M
cLoughlin 

N
eil 

Lieut. 
as from

 29 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
orris

Jam
es 

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

urray
John Joseph  

Lieut. 
as from

 21 M
arch 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Brien

Alfred
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
A.P.C

Adjutant, A. Service Corps

O
’Donnell

M
ichael 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
M

.G. Coy, 18 Bn, Lim
erick 

Reserve

O
’Donnell

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

O
’Donovan

M
ichael 

Lieut. 
as from

 14 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
“C” Coy, 65 Bn, Cork 

“D” Coy, 15 Bn

Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation
O

’N
eill

Conn 
Lieut. 

as from
 21 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Intelligence, General 
Headquarters

Reserve

Robinson 
M

ichael 
Lieut. 

as from
 29 M

arch 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Ryan

Peter
Lieut. 

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Sargent
Philip

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Sw

eeney
Daniel 

Lieut. 
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
W

alsh
M

ichael Joseph 
Lieut. 

as from
 14 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

A.M
 Corps [Arm

y M
edical 

Corps]
A.M

 Corps 

W
ylie

Patrick 
Lieut. 

as from
 7 April 1924  (O

ffi
cers 

records) . See also list “B”, IE-
M

A-AM
TY-02-003. 

I.O
, Dublin Com

m
and 

Reserve
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Surnam
e 

Forenam
e

Rank 
Date of resignation and 

source
Appointm

ent before 
reorganisation 

Appointm
ent after 

reorganisation

Duhig
Joseph 

2/Lieut.
as from

 19 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Hanley

Rody
2/Lieut.

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

Lam
b

Patrick 
2/Lieut.

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

M
urphy 

John J. 
2/Lieut.

since Arm
y crisis began (see 

list “B”, IE-M
A-AM

TY-02-003)
A.C.E. Dublin 

Q
.M

. Eng. Dist. 3, A.C.E

Skelly
Robert

2/Lieut.
as from

 1 April 1924 (Iris 
O

ifigúil)
Asst. Adjt. 30 Bn, Cork 
Com

m
and 

Reserve

W
oods

Peter
2/Lieut.

as from
 19 April 1924 (Iris 

O
ifigúil)

File note held in personal 
record 

of 
Com

m
andant 

Thom
as Flood (SDR/967)
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Kevin O’Higgins, Patrick McGilligan and Eamon Duggan leaving an event with police guard and military band in 
attendance. c. 1922
(KEN3, Private papers of Hugh Kennedy. Reproduced with the permission of the National Library of Ireland)
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Appendix 2
Schedule of witnesses that appeared before the Army Inquiry committee

Date Name of Witness Rank or Position

1924

April 9th C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 10th C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 10th  Joseph McGrath Deputy

April 11th  Richard Mulcahy Late Minister for Defence

April 14th C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 15th  C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 16th  Cahir Davitt Colonel, Judge Advocate General

April 16th  Jephson O’Connell Colonel, Late G.S.O (2) Inspection Department

April 16th  Michael Costello Colonel, Director of Intelligence

April 16th  Harry Murray Captain, Ministry of Industry and Commerce 

April 17th  C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 17th Thomas Ryan Lieut-Colonel, late G.S.O (2) Training and Operations 

April 22nd C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence 

April 22nd  Kevin O’Higgins Minister for Justice 

April 24th P. Hogan Minister for Lands and Agriculture 

April 24th Cahir Davitt Colonel, Judge Advocate General 

April 24th Harry Murphy Captain, Ministry of Industry and Commerce 

April 28th  C.B. O’Connor Secretary, Ministry of Defence

April 28th Frederick Henry Colonel, Officer i/c Discipline 

April 28th Michael Costello Colonel, Director of Intelligence  

April 28th  James Hogan Professor, formerly Major General, Director of Intelligence 

April 29th  Jephson O’Connell Colonel, late G.S.O (2) Inspection Department 

April 29th  Thomas Ryan Lieut-Colonel, late G.S.O (2) Training and Operations

April 29th Richard Mulcahy Late Minister for Defence 

May 2nd Frederick Henry Colonel, Officer i/c Discipline 

May 6th  Jephson O’Connell Colonel, late G.S.O (2) Inspection Department 
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May 8th  Jephson O’Connell do.do.

May 9th  Charles F. Russell Colonel – Comdt. Officer Commanding Army Corps of 
Engineers 

May 10th  Thomas J. Corcoran Ex-Captain 

May 10th  Charles F. Russell Colonel – Comdt. Officer Commanding Army Corps of 
Engineers

May 10th  D. Neligan Colonel, late Director of Intelligence 

May 12th  J.J. O’Connell Colonel 

May 12th James Hogan Professor, formerly Major General, Director of Intelligence

May 12th  Frederick Henry Colonel, Officer i/c Discipline 

May 12th Charles F. Russell Colonel – Comdt. Officer Commanding Army Corps of 
Engineers

May 12th W. Stapleton Major, A.M.C. 

May 13th Martin Nolan Ex-Captain 

May 13th  E. Broy Colonel, Secretary to Commissioner, D.M.P.

May 13th  James Hogan Professor, formerly Major General, Director of Intelligence

May 13th Thomas Corcoran Ex-Captain 

May 14th Robert J. Page Ex-Lieutenant 

May 14th Gearóid O’Suilleavain Late Adjutant-General 

May 15th Gearóid O’Suilleavain do.

May 15th Seán O’ Muirthuille  Late Quartermaster General 

May 16th Seán O’ Muirthuille do.

 May 16th Seán MacMahon Late Chief of Staff 

May 17th Seán MacMahon do. 

May 19th Denis Cronin Ex-Captain 

May 19th Seán MacMahon Late Chief of Staff

May 19th Richard Mulcahy Late Minister for Defence 

May 20th Richard Mulcahy do.

May 22nd  John Cullen Ex-Private 

May 23rd  Seamus Woods Colonel 

May 23rd  Eoin MacNeill Minister for Education 

May 24th Richard Mulcahy Late Minister for Defence 
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Appendix 3	
Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee

Reference code: 				    IE-MA-AMTY
Title:						      Papers of the Army Inquiry Committee 
						      (1924)
Dates:	 					     December 1923 – June 1924
Level of description:				    Fonds 
Extent:		  				    12 Boxes 
Creator (s): 					     Army Inquiry Committee 
						      General Headquarters staff (National Army) 

Scope and Content:
AMTY- 01  	� Papers of the Cabinet Committee established to investigate claims for reinstatement 

by demobilised Officers (December 1923 - March 1924). Fifty nine (59) files mostly 
containing application forms completed by Officers that were demobilised as 
consequence of Army reorganisation and demobilisation measures. Files also contain 
related correspondence between the Secretary, Minister of Defence, the Secretary, 
Cabinet Committee and members of the Cabinet Committee. 

AMTY - 02	� Army Inquiry Committee - establishment and preliminaries. Three (3) files containing 
paperwork on the setting up of the Committee

AMTY - 03	� Army Inquiry Committee - hearings and statements. Seventy two (72) files containing 
record of evidence produced in line with the appearance of witnesses before the 
Army Inquiry Committee. Includes supplementary statements and questionnaires 
supplied by witnesses and related correspondence between Committee members 
and witnesses. 

AMTY - 04 	� Army Inquiry Committee - Administration and report. Six (6) files containing draft 
reports and final report. With bound volume containing minutes of Committee 
meetings signed by Committee Chairman. 

AMTY - 05 	� Army Inquiry Committee. Seven (7) files containing press reports compiled by the 
Army’s Intelligence Department on the Army Inquiry Committee. 

Access conditions
Access:		 Available by appointment 
Finding aid:	 Descriptive list (digital and hardcopy available)


